IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GHENGIS KOCAKER,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC10-229 Lower Ct.:CRC04-19874CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANDREA M. NORGARD
SPECIAL APPOINTED
PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 661066

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of 30 volumes and two supplemental volumes. Volumes 1-20 contain the documents filed with the clerk and the competency hearing; these volumes will be reference in this brief by the volume number, "R" and the appropriate page number. It should be noted that the volumes are not sequentially numbered- each volume begins with page 1 and continues, so pagination in this brief will follow the page numbers per the record. The remaining volumes contain the transcripts and will be referenced by the volume number, "T", and the page number. The page numbering location is inconsistent in volumes 21-23- the page number referenced for volumes 21 and 23 is found at the top of the page; the page number referenced for volume 22 and the sentencing hearing in volume 23 is found at the bottom of the page. The Sentencing Order is contained in а supplemental volume, which will be referenced as "SR" followed by the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 17, 2004, the grand jury for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, in and for Pinellas County, indicted the Appellant, Mr. Genghis Kocaker for the offense of first-degree murder in the death of Eric Stanton on August 31,

2004 contrary to Fla. Stat. 782.04(1)(a).(V.1,R14-15) The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty on December 7, 2005.(V.1,R39)

Competency Proceedings:

The trial court ordered competency evaluations of Mr. Kocaker in response to a defense request on October 1, 2007.(V1.,R103-106) The trial court conducted a competency hearing on January 3, 2008.(V.20,R35) The following testimony was presented:

Dr. Hyman Eisenstein testified that he is a licensed psychologist and is familiar with the competency standards.(V.20,R39) He evaluated Mr. Kocaker in February 2007 and reviewed other materials.(V.20,R41) A competency evaluation was completed.(V.20,R43) Dr. Eisenstein found Mr. Kocaker was incompetent to proceed in both his ability to disclose pertinent facts surrounding his case to counsel and to testify relevantly on his own behalf.(V.20,R48-52)

Dr. Jill Poorman testified that she works from the criminal complex with her primary duty being to conduct competency evaluations.(V.20,R71) Dr. Poorman was ordered to conduct an evaluation of Mr. Kocaker in March.(V.20,R72) Dr. Poorman met with Mr. Kocaker, reviewed some materials provided by Dr. Eisenstein, reviewed jail records, and

talked to trial counsel.(V.20,R73) Mr. Kocaker receiving Depakote, a mood stabilizer at the time of the The jail staff had not made an Axis I evaluation. diagnosis. Dr. Poorman did not know why he was being given Depakote.(V.20,T74) Mr. Kocaker reported that he hears voices that tell him to hurt himself, but he tries to ignore them. (V.20,R80) He reported service in the Vietnam war as a helicopter pilot.(V.20,R80) Dr. Poorman believed that Mr. Kocaker truly believes he is hearing voices and is not making this up.(V.20,R81) Although Mr. Kocaker could not go through from beginning to end what happened and said he was very intoxicated at the time of the offense, Dr. Poorman felt that Mr. Kocaker was competent.(V.20,R76-78)

Dr. Richard Carpenter testified on January 7, 2008 that he evaluated Mr. Kocaker for competency on October 9, 2007.(V.20,R96) Dr. Carpenter met with Mr. Kocaker. Kocaker told him he was taking Geodon, which Dr. Carpenter knows to be an antipsychotic medication.(V.20,R97) Kocaker had an odd persona, but was cooperative.(V.20,R98) he Mr. Kocaker said he took Geodon because hears voices.(V.20,R98) Dr. Carpenter diagnosed Mr. Kocaker with Psychotic Disorder NOS and ruled schizophrenia.(V.20,R99) Dr. Carpenter found Mr. Kocaker

to be competent.(V.20,R101)

The trial court found Mr. Kocaker to be competent.(V.20,R114)

A second evaluation by Dr. Carpenter was ordered on May 30, 2008.(V.2,R53)

The following motions were filed by the defense challenging the death penalty: Lethal Injection is Cruel and Unusual Punishment (V.2,R11-28) and a Death Sentence is Unconstitutional under Ring (V.2,R29-44).

Mr. Kocaker was tried by a jury and a verdict of guilty as charged was reached on June 12, 2008.(V.3,R166) Following a penalty phase, the jury returned an advisory verdict of 11-1 in favor of death on June 13, 2008.(V.3,R177)

The parties filed sentencing memorandums: the State on November 9, 2009 and the defense on November 16, 2009.(V.4,T48-110) The trial court imposed a sentence of death on December 18, 2009.(V.4,R111-114)

A Notice of Appeal was filed on January 14, 2010.(V.4,R167-68)

Trial Testimony:

The testimony at trial presented by the State is summarized as follows:

Ms. Ruthy Doles serves as the records custodian for the Pinellas County Emergency Communications Center.(V.26,T295) She reviewed the records of 911 calls for September 1, 2004 and obtained a recorded call advising that police were needed at Eckerd's drug store located at Missouri and Bellaire.(V.26,T299) The caller reported a inside a cab.(V.26, T299-305)was dead Ιt man was stipulated that Eric Stanton was the deceased cab.(V.27,T478)

Greg Boos, formerly of the Clearwater Fire Rescue, responded to the 911 dispatch on September 2004.(V.28,T548) He arrived somewhere between 7 and 8 am.(V27,T549) Mr. Boos observed a barefoot male wearing shorts, a t-shirt, and wire framed glasses when arrived.(V28,T549) Mr. Boos saw a yellow cab in a parking space on the side of the Eckerd's store.(V.28,T550) driver's door was ajar, the windows were shut.(V.28,T550) It was not possible to see inside the vehicle without opening the door.(V.28,T550) When Mr. Boos opened the door he saw an obviously deceased person in the car.(V.28,T550) There was a strong odor of gasoline.(V.28,T552) told him he came upon the cab, but was leaving because he was on probation.(V.28,T553)

Detective Thomas Klein was the case agent for this crime.(V.29,T738) He arrived at the scene and directed the investigation.(V.29,T739) The trunk of the cab contained a cut, bloodied seat belt with a knot in it.(V.29,T741) back seat was kicked forward so someone could pass through from the trunk into the car.(V.29,T741) Mr. Stanton was found in the front seat of the cab.(V.29,T742) There was a gas can on the front seat next to the body.(V.29,T742) grey colored t-shirt covered in blood was inside the cab.(V.29,T743) The windows of the cab were covered in soot.(V.29,T749) There were smears on the interior of the windows.(V.29,T750) It appeared from the smears someone had been moving inside the cab. (V.29, T750)

Allen Weatherilt was the driver's service manager for Yellow Cab in September 2004.(V.26,T374) Mr. Weatherilt testified that yellow cabs have a two way communications radio system and a meter that interact together.(V.26,T375) The cabs have a GPS. All the documents related to Mr. Stanton's cab were given to the police.(V.26,T376) Mr. Stanton drove vehicle number 227.(V.26,T380) Records from the cab and computer showed that vehicle 227 was dispatched to zone 012 [downtown Clearwater] at 9:29 on August 31, 2004.(V.26,T380) At 9:32 the log indicated "meter on",

which would mean that vehicle 227 was flagged down.(V.26,T382) Twenty-five minutes later the log showed "meter off".(V.26,T382) At 10:00 the driver "Booked a request"- which meant he had asked to go out of service for awhile.(V.26,T383) Log records showed that Mr. Stanton picked up a fare by Albertson's grocery about one third of a mile from Eckerd's.(V.29,T758)

On September 1, 2004, the GPS logged an outgoing message at 9:53 am looking for vehicle 227.(V.26,T384) No return message from the driver was received.(V.26,T385)

The police requested the security tapes from Eckerd's for September 1, and those were pulled by store manager Michelle Dews.(V.26,T315) The tapes do not run twenty-four hours, but they are date and time stamped.(V.26,T320) Security tapes were also obtained from a 7-11 located at Clearwater-Largo road for September 1, 2004.(V27,T481)

CST technicians took digital photos of the crime scene, but video taping was unsuccessful.(V.26,T322-327) Still photos were admitted into evidence.(V.26,T328-343) Items of evidence were collected from the cab including a grey t-shirt with suspected blood(V.26,T342); a cut seatbelt (V.26,T340); and apparent blood samples from the trunk and other areas of the car.(V.26,T342;347) The cab

was also processed for fingerprints.(V.26,T348) Some partial prints were obtained.(V.26,T350) A gas can was collected.(V.26,T353)

The grey t-shirt tested positive for blood and DNA profiles were obtained from the t-shirt.(V.28,T563) DNA from Mr. Stanton was found on the t-shirt as a major contributor.(V.28,T565) DNA from a second individual was present from samples from the shirt identified as 18D.(V.28,T566) This "minor contributor" did not have a profile developed.(V28,T567) A DNA profile was developed from a cigarette butt found on the ground by the cab.(V.28,T567) The person whose DNA was on the cigarette butt could not be excluded as the minor contributor of DNA from the t-shirt.(V.28,T568)

Mr. Stanton's DNA was identified from blood samples obtained from the seat belt and swabs taken from inside the vehicle.(V.28,T572-576)

Because the cab had been burned, Detective Karl Cruise, of the Pinellas County Sheriff's arson unit, also processed the cab and crime scene to determine the origin and cause of the fire.(V.26,T356) The fire was intentionally set.(V.26,T368) Det. Cruise believed that the gasoline was the fuel for the fire.(V.26,T359;367) There

was a strong odor of gas emitting from the cab. (V.26, T361) A gas fire burns hot, at temperatures around 1879 degrees Fahrenheit.(V.26,T359) It will burn fast, consuming more oxygen.(V.26,T359) Det. Cruise observed the gas cap of the cab was opened and he was able to pry out a burnt paper wick from the gas filler neck.(V.26,T361) In most cases a wick will not work because it will be consumed by the fuel it is soaked in and if contained, will not have sufficient oxygen to burn. (V.26, T362) Det. Cruise determined that the fire most likely started in the rear floorboard area as evidenced by the burn pattern.(V.26,T363;367) A second, partially burnt wick was found on the rear passenger floorboard.(V.26,T367) The fire traveled up the seat, then headliner.(V.26,T363) and across the When out the headliner caught fire it began to melt.(V.26,T364-65) Evidence from the back seat suggested that at the time the fire started the back seat was up, then the victim came from the trunk into the back seat by pushing the seat out and ended up in the front seat. (V.26, T365) Some drippings from the headliner were found on the victim's face and arm.(V.26,T366) The fire self-extinguished when it ran out of oxygen due to the shut doors and rolled up windows of the cab.(V.26,T368)

Dr. Noel Palma went to the crime scene on September 1, 2004 and observed the interior of the cab and Mr. Stanton's body inside.(V.27,T445) She performed an autopsy on Mr. Stanton.(V.27,T446) The exterior of the body had first and second degree burns on the face and extremities and a horizontal incised wound on the neck. (V.27,T449) The wound did not cut the trachea.(V.27,T449) There were stab wounds to the upper left back.(V.27,T451) There was a contusion to the top of the head.(V.27,T451) There was skin slippage on the finger on the right hand due to burns.(V.27,T449)

The neck wound would not produce large amounts of bleeding.(V.27,T452) The stab wounds to the back were major injuries that would produce substantial bleeding.(V.27,T453) The wound produced a fractured rib and went into the left lung.(V.27,T453) The wound caused the left lung to be ineffective- causing large bleeding and trouble breathing.(V.27,T456) Without treatment, this wound was fatal.(V27,T457) The instrument that caused this injury was likely a serrated knife.(V.27,T458-9)

First and second degree burns covered 80-85% of the body.(V27,T460) The burns were largely caused while Mr. Stanton was still alive.(V.27,T461) Soot was found in the

trachea, indicating the person was alive and breathing during the fire.(V.27,T452) The carbon monoxide in Mr. Stanton's blood was significant.(V.27,T462) The 61% rate indicated Mr. Stanton died from oxygen starvation.(V.27,T465) No determination could be made whether or not Mr. Stanton was conscious when the fire was occurring.(V.27,T468)

Officer James Beining was asked to do a neighborhood canvas of the area surrounding the Eckerd's. He also obtained the phone number from the 911 caller and left a message at that number.(V.27,T411) A man identified as "Nic" called back. Officer Beining met "Nick" at a bus stop.(V.27,T413) Off. Beining identified Mr. Kocaker as the person he found sitting on the bench.(V.27,T413) When asked how he found the cab, Mr. Kocaker said he had been coming down Bellaire Road and was late for work. Kocaker said he cut across the Eckerd parking lot and as he walked through the area he saw the cab and a bunch of change and things on the ground.(V.27,T416) Mr. Kocaker said he went up to the cab and saw a driver's license on the ground, then noticed the door slightly was open.(V.27,T416) Mr. Kocaker said he looked through the window and saw a guy laying on the seat, so he opened the

door and discovered the man appeared to be dead. (V.27, T416) Mr. Kocaker then called 911.(V.27,T416) Mr. Kocaker said he touched the body to find a pulse and snapped his fingers in front of the man's face.(V.27,T416) Mr. Kocaker said he threw the driver's license back down.(V.27,T417) Kocaker said he left the scene because he was on probation identified his probation officer.(V.27,T417) and Mr. Kocaker said he had been out with friends the night before, could not account for his time.(V.27,T417) Off. Beining called back to the crime scene and learned that no driver's license was found on the ground. (V.27, T418) Mr. Kocaker agreed to go back to the crime scene. (V.27, T418) Off. Beining took Mr. Kocaker back to the scene in his patrol car.(V.27,T418)

Off. Beining was present while Det. Klein interviewed Mr. Kocaker at the crime scene.(V.27,T419;V.29,T751) Mr. Kocaker said he got off work on August 31 around 6-6:30 pm.(V.27,T419) He ate dinner, took a shower, and spent some time with his nephew. He left the house between 8-9:00 pm and went to Albertson's grocery store.(V.27,T420) He bought vodka and returned home. Mr. Kocaker left again around 10:00 pm and went to Walmart, which is about a mile from Eckerd's.(V.27,T420) He met some people there and

went with them back to an unknown location between a motel and a house.(V.27,T420;V.29,T755) Mr. Kocaker found the cab and victim when he cut across the parking lot on his way home the next morning.(V,27,T421)

After Mr. Kocaker was taken home, the Eckerd video was reviewed by law enforcement.(V.27,T426) The video was played to the jury.(V.27,T426) Cameras 8 and 9 from the store depicted the cab and north side of the building and the parking lot.(V27,T429;V.29,T759) The video showed Mr. Kocaker making a call.(V.27,T431) Mr. Kocaker was never shown to be walking across the parking lot.(V.26,T432) appears to come from around the corner the building.(V.27,T433) He pulls his phone out before he gets to the cab, which is unlike his statement that he called 911 only after he opened the door to the cab.(V.27,T433) Mr. Kocaker was wearing different clothes in the video than the clothes he was wearing when he was met at the bus stop.(V.27,T435)

Det. Cruise and Det. Beining returned to Mr. Kocaker's residence.(V.26,T369;V.27,T436) Det. Cruise had watched the Eckerd's video and observed that Mr. Kocaker was wearing different clothes when they met with him a few hours later.(V.26,T370) Mr. Kocaker said he had changed

clothes and had already washed the clothes that he had been wearing at Eckerds.(V.26,T370) The clothes were obtained from the washing machine.(V.26,T371;V.27,T436)

Cellular phone records were obtained and the cellular tower for phone number 727-488-0777 was identified.(V.27,T488-492) The phone subscriber was Coronado Martin.(V.27,T493)

The video-taped testimony of Ann Maria Rivas was played to the jury.(V.27,T495) Mr. Kocaker is Ms. Rivas' brother.(V.27,T498) Mr. Kocaker came to live with Ms. Rivas and her son in June 2004. She got him a job at PODS, where she worked.(V.27,T498) Mr. Kocaker did not have a car, but used a bus or bike to get around.(V.27,T499) Rivas purchased Mr. Kocaker some clothing, including a grey t-shirt, and shoes.(V.27,T499;507;V29,T744) Mr. Kocaker had a cell phone, whose number was 727-488-0777.(V.27,T500) On August 31 and September 1, 2004, Ms. Rivas was in Dallas on a business trip.(V.27,T501) Mr. Kocaker stayed at her home with her son.(V.27,T502) When she arrived home about 12:30 am on September 1, her son was there but Mr. Kocaker was not.(V.27,T503) Mr. Kocaker was not at home when Ms. Rivas got up around 5:30 am.(V27,T504) Mr. Kocaker called around 7:30 am as Ms. Rivas was leaving to take her son to

school.(V27,T505) Mr. Kocaker said he would be late for work because he as going to the doctor to get his medication changed.(V.27,T505) Mr. Kocaker did not mention a 911 call.(V.27,T506)

Ms. Rivas was asked by the police to look in her home for the grey shirt, but couldn't find it. (V.27,T508;V.29,T744) The grey shirt was Fruit of the Loom brand, size medium.(V.27,T514;V29,T748)

After speaking to the police, Ms. Rivas went into a bathroom and saw reddish-brown droplets in the bathtub.(V27,T509) She took pictures of the droplets and gave them to the police.(V.27,T510)

missing from the front of qas can was the house.(V.27,T516) Ms. Rivas felt the gas can found at the crime scene matched the missing gas can. Ms. Fradkin was in charge of mowing the grass at the home on Jefferson Street. Ms. Rivas rented the home from Ms. Fradkin's nephew and future niece.(V.29,T668) Ms. Fradkin noticed that one of the two gas cans she kept at the house was missing. It was faded and had old black paint on it.(V.29,T671) Ms. Fradkin assumed it had been stolen, but was later asked to look a photos of the gas can found at Eckerd's.(V.29,T672) The gas can in the picture was the

missing faded gas can.(V.29, T672)

Antoine "Fury" Powell testified that in September 2004 he was selling crack cocaine.(V.28,T579) He has 16 or 17 prior felony convictions and has been to prison once before.(V.28,T621) He had previous convictions for robbery.(V.28,T621) He is currently on probation for driving charges.(V.28,T620) A VOP was pending at the time of trial.(V.28,T626) Mr. Powell denied being promised anything for his testimony.(V.28,T631)

On the morning of August 31, 2004, Mr. Powell was pumping gas when he was approached by Mr. Kocaker.(V.28,T581) Mr. Kocaker said his name was "Wolf".(V.28,T582) Eventually Mr. Powell sold Mr. Kocaker \$20 of crack cocaine.(V.28,T583) They exchanged phone numbers.(V.28, T583) Mr. Powell's number 2185.(V.28, T585) A paper containing the name Fury and the above phone number was in Mr. Kocaker's wallet at the time of his arrest.(V.29,T764) The number showed up on Mr. Kocaker's cell phone records.(V.29,T764)

Later that afternoon Mr. Powell noticed a call on his cell phone from Mr. Kocaker.(V.28,T585) Mr. Powell returned the call and additional drug sales were arranged.(V.28,T587) Mr. Powell went and picked up Mr.

Kocaker at the Salvation Army. (V.28, T588) Mr. Kocaker wanted to find some girls who would party and exchange sex for drugs. (V.28, T588) Mr. Powell assisted him in securing by taking Mr. Kocaker the Bellaire this to Hotel.(V.28,T588) ${\tt Mr.}$ Kocaker rented a room at Bellaire. There were more discussions about procuring drugs and women.(V.28,T589) Mr. Powell sold Mr. Kocaker crack cocaine once or twice more that evening.(V.28, T589) Mr. Powell also talked to some girls he knew that worked that area, but the business end of the deal was up to the girls.(V.28,T595) Mr. Powell took Chrissy, Stephanie, and Heidi to the motel to meet with Mr. Kocaker.(V.28,T596) Mr. Powell was in communication with Mr. Kocaker by cell phone during this time. (V.28, T597)

Mr. Kocaker stayed in room 40 and Mr. Powell spent the night in room 39.(V.28,T598) At some point in the evening Mr. Kocaker ran out of money.(V.28,T598) Mr. Kocaker still wanted crack.(V.28,T599) Mr. Kocaker offered a necklace and ring, which Mr. Powell took for drugs.(V.28,T599) Mr. Powell left the next morning with the jewelry.(V.28,T600) He gave some of the jewelry to his girlfriend.(V.28,T600)

Mr. Powell saw Mr. Kocaker leaving his room on Monday morning.(V.28,T602) Mr. Kocaker called Mr. Powell on

Tuesday and told him he would have the money to get the ring and necklace back.(V.28,T602) Mr. Kocaker called again about 11 pm to meet with him.(V.28,T603) They met at Walgreen's on Bellaire road.(V.28,T604) Stephanie drove Mr. Powell to Walgreen's, but there was no sign of Mr. Kocaker.(V.28,T605) Mr. Kocaker then appeared out of no where, got into the car, and they drove off.(V.28,T606)

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