IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GHENGIS KOCAKER,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC10-229 Lower Tribunal No. CRC04-19874CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 carol.dittmar@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury's verdict finding Kocaker guilty of the first degree murder of Eric Stanton is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Kocaker testified to his theory of defense, which suggested that Fury and/or others had killed Stanton; this theory was rejected by the jury and was inconsistent with the other evidence presented at trial.

A review of factually similar cases establishes that the death sentence is proportional in this case. As the trial judge below determined, the horrendous aggravating factors clearly outweighed the minimal mitigation presented, and there is no basis to reduce the sentence imposed on proportionality grounds.

This Court has repeatedly rejected Kocaker's claims as to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty, both as to the procedures for imposition of a capital sentence and for execution by lethal injection.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL, COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY VERDICT OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER.

Kocaker's first issue challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his first degree murder conviction. Kocaker claims that the evidence presented below was insufficient to support the jury's verdict, and therefore the court below should have granted his motion for judgment of acquittal (V30/837-38, 907). This claim is without merit.

The standard of review for the denial of a judgment of acquittal is de novo. Johnston v. State, 863 So. 2d 271, 283 (Fla. 2003), cert. denied, 541 U.S. 946 (2004); Pagan v. State, 830 So. 2d 792, 803 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 539 U.S. 919 (2003). A judgment of conviction carries a presumption of correctness, and an appellate court cannot reverse a conviction that is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d 954, 964 (Fla. 1996); Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629, 634-635 (Fla.), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 895 (2003). The evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Floyd v. State, 913 So. 2d 564, 571 (Fla. 2005); Johnston, 863 So. 2d at 283. In this case, a review of the record demonstrates clear support for the jury verdict, and conclusively refutes Kocaker's claim.

There are special rules that apply in cases relying exclusively on circumstantial evidence. A motion for judgment of acquittal should be granted in a circumstantial evidence case if the State fails to present evidence from which the jury can every reasonable hypothesis except that of guilt. exclude However, the question of whether the evidence fails to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the jury to determine, and where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury verdict, an appellate court will not reverse. Darling v. State, 808 So. 2d 145, 155 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 848 (2002); State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187, 188 (Fla. 1989). In meeting its burden, the State is not required to "rebut conclusively, every possible variation of events" which could be inferred from the evidence, but must introduce competent evidence which is inconsistent with the defendant's theory of Once the State meets this threshold burden, it becomes events. the jury's duty to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence beyond a reasonable doubt. Darling, 808 So. 2d at 156; Law, 559 So. 2d at 189.

Although Kocaker invokes the circumstantial evidence rule,

some of the facts incriminating him in this murder were established by direct rather than circumstantial evidence. This Court has described direct evidence as "that to which the witness testifies of his own knowledge as to the facts at issue." <u>Davis v. State</u>, 90 So. 2d 629, 631 (Fla. 1956). According to Professor Ehrhardt, direct evidence is "evidence which requires only the inference that what the witness said is true to prove a material fact." <u>See</u> Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 401.1 (2000 ed.).

Accordingly, Kocaker's statements to Paul Sands admitting to being in jail because he "burned" someone and wishing he could kill his sister, too, for cooperating with the police was direct evidence of his guilt. <u>Pagan</u>, 830 So. 2d at 803-04 (direct evidence includes confessions and statements to third parties explaining intent and motive); <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1071, 1075 (Fla. 1988). In addition, the 911 phone call, in context with the video showing that Kocaker was making the call and discussing finding someone in the cab before he could actually see into the cab, was direct evidence of Kocaker's guilty knowledge. Since material facts were proven by direct as well as circumstantial evidence, there is no reason to analyze whether the State's case was inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. Floyd, 913 So. 2d at 571 ("This case

does not rest wholly on circumstantial evidence; thus the latter standard does not apply"); <u>Conde v. State</u>, 860 So. 2d 930, 943 (Fla. 2003), <u>cert. denied</u>, 541 U.S. 977 (2004); <u>Pagan</u>, 830 So. 2d at 803 (special rule applies if State's evidence is "wholly" circumstantial); <u>Davis</u>, 90 So. 2d at 631 (special rule applies where case proven "purely" on circumstantial evidence).

At any rate, the State's burden was clearly met in this case, and fully refutes the defense theory that someone else may have committed this murder. A review of the record establishes that Kocaker's theory of defense was directly rebutted by the evidence. Kocaker testified in his own defense, suggesting that Fury and/or someone among Fury's group of friends actually killed Eric Stanton (V30/843-854). According to Kocaker, Stanton picked Kocaker up at the store when Kocaker saw Stanton in his cab and flagged him down for a ride. When Kocaker asked to go to the Belleair Motel, Stanton asked Kocaker why he was going there; when Kocaker responded he was meeting some girls, Stanton asked if Kocaker could introduce him to a girl. Kocaker testified that Stanton said he would not charge Kocaker the cost of the cab ride if Kocaker would introduce Stanton to his friends. Once they arrived at the motel, Kocaker went looking for his friends and returned a few minutes later to find Stanton and one of the girls in the back of the cab. Kocaker went by

later and heard Stanton arguing with someone, presumably the perpetrator.

inconsistent with Kocaker's testimony was the other evidence presented below. His account of the events of August 31 is contrary to the testimony provided by Fury Powell, Heidi Kalous and Stephanie Brzoska. According to Kocaker, he flagged Stanton's cab and took it to the Belleair Motel, where Stanton met up with other people (V30/844, 848-49). According to Fury and Stephanie, they picked up Kocaker across the street from where Stanton's cab was found, and Kocaker was wearing a bloody shirt and counting money he had not had before (V28/602-06, 610; Kocaker's claim that Crissy had borrowed his V29/703-07). clothes when her shirt ripped and her zipper broke was inconsistent with Heidi's testimony about Kocaker getting a shower and change of clothes from Alvin, necessitated by Kocaker's wearing a shirt with blood all over it, allegedly from a bar fight (V29/687-90; V30/852-53, 862-65). Kocaker did not remember telling Heidi that he had a knife under the mattress and denied telling Fury that he was a killer (V30/865, 886).

The account provided by Kocaker was also refuted by the objective evidence provided by phone records and video cameras. For example, the cell phone records establish that Kocaker was up in the area of the Eckerd's when he called Fury after

midnight on September 1 (V5/48-56 [St. Ex. 14]; V27/489-90, 492). The video taken by the surveillance camera at the 7-11 corroborates the testimony that Fury, Stephanie and Kocaker went by the 7-11 and Kocaker walked around back to throw away the paper bag containing his bloody shirt (V5/73-79 [St. Ex. 18, 19]; V29/713-16). The State's cross-examination of Kocaker highlights the improbable and inconsistent nature of his theory of defense (V30/866-886).

Kocaker's argument appears to accept that his testimony cannot be reconciled with the testimony given by Fury, Heidi and Stephanie, because Kocaker asserts that they "had significant credibility issues" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 66). As this Court has repeatedly admonished, credibility determinations are resolved by the factfinders at trial. Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998) ("It is the province of the trier of fact to determine the credibility of witnesses and resolve factual conflicts"); Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512, 514-515 (Fla. 1998) ("this Court, as an appellate body, has no authority to substitute its view of the facts for that of the trial judge when competent evidence exists to support the trial judge's conclusion"); Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997) (as long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, Supreme Court will not

substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, the credibility of the witnesses, or the weight to be given to the evidence). Because these witnesses provided testimony which was inconsistent with Kocaker's theory of innocence, the evidence below satisfied the State's burden, even for a case resting on circumstantial evidence.

Kocaker also attempts to minimize the evidentiary value of the T-shirt and gas can found in Stanton's cab, suggesting that neither was conclusively linked to him (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 67). Given the testimony that the T-shirt was identical in size, shape and color to a shirt purchased by Kocaker's sister and given to him which could not be located at his house after the murder, the State is entitled to the inference that this was Kocaker's shirt. See Darling, 808 So. 2d at 155 (in moving for acquittal, defendant admits the facts in evidence, as well as every conclusion favorable to the State that the jury might fairly and reasonably infer from the evidence); Lynch v. State, 293 So. 2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974). In addition, however, Kocaker provided an innocent explanation for the discovery of his shirt in the cab, claiming that he had let Fury's friend, Crissy, borrow his clothes the night that Stanton was killed (V30/852-52, 862-65). And, although Kocaker could not provide any explanation for how the gas can from his house

ended up under Stanton's body, the gas can was positively identified as being the can from that residence (V29/671-73).

In conclusion, the record provides ample support for the jury verdict convicting Kocaker of Stanton's murder. Direct and circumstantial evidence established that Kocaker needed money, and was picked up the night of the murder across the street from the scene, wearing a bloody shirt and counting cash. He admitted to being a killer, to possessing a knife that night, and to "burning" Stanton. His T-shirt and a gas can from his residence were found in Stanton's cab, and his behavior upon seeing the cab the next morning was independently inculpatory. The State proved beyond any reasonable doubt that Eric Stanton was killed and that Kocaker had the motive and opportunity and was the actual perpetrator. The court below properly denied the defense motion for judgment of acquittal, and this Court must affirm Kocaker's conviction for Stanton's murder.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE SENTENCE OF DEATH IS PROPORTIONAL.

Kocaker next asserts that his death sentence is disproportionate. This Court's de novo proportionality review does not turn on the existence and number of aggravating and mitigating factors, but this Court must weigh the nature and quality of the factors as compared with other death cases. Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). The purpose of a proportionality review is to compare the case to similar defendants, facts and sentences. Tillman v. State, 591 So. 2d 167, 169 (Fla. 1991). When factually similar cases are compared to the instant case, the proportionality of Kocaker's sentence is evident.

The court below found three aggravating circumstances: (1) defendant on felony probation, (2) prior violent felony convictions (manslaughter in 1981 and eight armed robberies in 1990), and (3) heinous, atrocious cruel (SV3/11-15). or Although the court did not apply the aggravating factors of pecuniary gain or murder committed during a robbery, these aggravating facts can be considered as part of this Court's proportionality review. See Sliney v. State, 699 So. 2d 662, 672 (Fla. 1997) (noting brutality of attack in upholding proportionality of sentence, despite trial court's failure to

find HAC). The court rejected the statutory mitigating circumstances but weighed Kocaker's mental health issues and family background as nonstatutory mitigation (SV3/6-15). The court characterized the aggravating circumstances as "horrendous" and concluded that they "greatly outweigh" the mitigation presented (SV3/16). The jury recommended the death sentence by a vote of eleven to one (V3/177; V33/1230).

This Court has affirmed imposition of the death penalty in a number of similar cases. In Pace v. State, 596 So. 2d 1034, 1035-36 (Fla. 1992), the defendant killed a taxicab driver in order to obtain money. Pace was on parole at the time of the murder and had a prior violent felony conviction; the trial court also weighed the fact that the murder was committed in the course of a robbery. The mitigation presented involved the defendant's positive character traits. And in Kight v. State, 512 So. 2d 922, 924 (Fla. 1987), where the defendant and a friend killed a cab driver, the aggravating factors were (1) during the course of a robbery and (2) heinous, atrocious or cruel, based on multiple stab wounds. As in the instant case, the judge in Kight rejected both statutory mental mitigating factors, as well as the statutory mitigator that the defendant was acting under the substantial domination of another; despite Kight's low intelligence and history of an abusive childhood,

the death sentence was appropriate. See also Hayes v. State, 581 So. 2d 121, 126-127 (Fla. 1991) (defendant and a friend robbed and shot a cab driver in order to obtain money for drugs; the crime was found to be cold, calculated and premeditated and the trial court rejected statutory mitigation based on defendant's age of 18 as well as the statutory mental mitigating factors, weighing nonstatutory mitigation of low intelligence, developmentally learning disabled, and product of an abusive and deprived environment); Smith v. State, 641 So.2d 1319, 1323 (Fla. 1994) (defendant shot cab driver in the back during robbery attempt; although Smith had a prior violent felony conviction, the mitigating factor of no significant criminal history was also found, along with nonstatutory mitigation relating to Smith's background and character).

Notably, in <u>Sinclair v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d 1138 (Fla. 1995), where this Court reversed a death sentence imposed for the killing of a cab driver on proportionality grounds, the only aggravating factor was that the murder was committed during a felony; mitigation included Sinclair's low intelligence, emotional disturbance, cooperation with police, and lack of a father figure. Thus, reviewing similar crimes where defendants have killed cab drivers in order to obtain money, the death sentence is uniformly upheld where the defendant has at least

one prior violent felony conviction. Kocaker has multiple prior violent felony convictions, including a prior homicide. In addition, the substantially weighty factor of heinous, atrocious and cruel was also found here, whereas most cab driver murders are accomplished quickly with a firearm and with no HAC finding. Under the circumstances presented here, death is appropriate.

Kocaker claims that his case presents more compelling mitigation due to his "severe mental illness" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 70). The trial court's findings as to the mental health mitigation presented clearly refute Kocaker's theory that his mental deficits provided compelling mitigation. The court below extensively addressed and specifically rejected the defense claims of extreme disturbance and substantial impairment:

II. MITIGATING FACTORS A. Statutory Factors

1. The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. § 921.141(6)(b), Fla. Stat.

Evidence was presented during the penalty phase indicating that the Defendant currently has mental health issues.

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